THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION  
COMMISSION

---

Case No.: 2012-213610

---

Norge L. Gonzalez Torres, Employee, Claimant, Appellant,

v.

World Fiber Technologies, Inc., Employer, and The Standard Fire Insurance  
Company, c/o Travelers, Carrier, Respondents.

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

C. Daniel Vega, Esquire  
Post Office Box 12330  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803)929-3600  
Attorney for Appellant

**RECEIVED**  
JUL 08 2013  
**SC Court of Appeals**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO ADDITIONAL MEDICAL CARE WHERE THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF RECORD DEMONSTRATES THAT HE REMAINS ENTITLED TO SUCH CARE?**
- II. **IN THE ALTERNATIVE, IF THE APPELLANT IS DETERMINED TO HAVE REACHED MAXIMUM MEDICAL IMPROVEMENT, DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FAILING TO GRANT HIM A PERMANENT PARTIAL DISABILITY AWARD IN EXCESS OF THE 12% IMPAIRMENT RATING ISSUED FOR THE LUMBAR SPINE?**
- III. **DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN RULING THAT RESPONDENTS ARE ENTITLED TO A CREDIT FOR OVERPAYMENT FOR THE PERIOD BETWEEN MARCH 1, 2010 AND SEPTEMBER 19, 2011?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal in a Workers' Compensation case. The Claimant and Appellant, Norge Gonzalez-Torres ("Gonzalez"), was injured in a work-related accident on February 26, 2010. The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission found that Gonzalez had reached Maximum Medical Improvement ("MMI") on September 19, 2011, cutting off temporary total disability ("TTD") payments. The Commission further found that Gonzalez was entitled to a 12% disability award pursuant to S.C. Code § 42-9-30, based solely on the fact that he had received a 12% impairment rating to the lumbar spine from Dr. Michael S. Scharf. The Commission's final finding was that the Respondents, World Fiber Technologies ("Employer") and The Standard Fire Insurance Company ("Carrier") (collectively, "Respondents"), are entitled to a credit for overpayment of TTD benefits for a period of eighteen months, despite the fact that the Respondents' initial error was the reason for this overpayment. This Court granted certiorari to review those decisions.

This matter arises from an admitted injury claim in which Gonzalez sustained an injury to his lower back on or about February 26, 2010. Gonzalez's back was injured while unloading heavy equipment from a truck at the beginning of a work day. (R. p. 44, lines 12-25). Gonzalez was on a temporary work assignment in Charleston, S.C., but lives in Jacksonville, Florida and received medical treatment there. Gonzalez received treatment from Dr. Robert J. Kleinhans, who reported that Gonzalez suffered from constant lower back pain, a decreased range of motion in the back, and radicular pain which radiated into both legs. (R. p. 78-80). Following the failure of conservative treatment, Gonzalez was ultimately forced to undergo surgery in the form of a two level fusion in his lower back due to a herniated disc. (R. p. 91).

Unfortunately, Gonzalez experienced no relief from this surgery or the physical therapy that followed it; he continues to suffer from the same level of pain as before his surgery, a permanent 50% limitation in the range of motion of the spine, and significant pain with movement, in addition to enduring an entire course of physical therapy which did nothing but exacerbate his pain. (R. p. 45-52, 66-67). An FCE concluded that he now functions in the light duty category, despite working in a heavy duty job prior to his injury. (R. p. 103).

Gonzalez spoke of his numerous problems since the accident, which include an inability to walk or sit for any lengthy period of time, an inability to work, trouble sleeping, inability to perform physical activities, inability to perform typical household chores, and an inability to do much of anything besides watch television. (R. p. 49-50, 67-68, 71). Furthermore, Gonzalez testified that he constantly feels severe pain, that he never received pain relief from the surgery, that he had his pain aggravated by physical

therapy, and that his pain is virtually always exacerbated by any physical activity. (R. p. 67-68). Despite these problems, once he was deemed to have reached MMI, he was left without any medical care whatsoever; he has been left to treat his pain with over the counter medications and does not receive pain management treatment. (R. p. 68-69). Additionally, while Gonzalez has stated his desire for further medical treatment, he is without health insurance and the Carrier has refused to authorize any additional medical care. *Id.* The Respondents have offered no evidence to dispute these facts, and they are uncontested within the record of this case.

A hearing was held in this matter on January 27, 2012, before the Single Commissioner. (R. p. 2). The issues before the Single Commissioner were whether Gonzalez had reached MMI, whether the Respondents could stop payment of TTD benefits, whether the Respondents were entitled to a credit for overpayment of TTD benefits for the period following MMI, and whether and to what extent Gonzalez had suffered from a permanent disability. (R. p. 57-60).

It was not until after the hearing, and nearly two years after the Respondents began TTD payments, that the Respondents submitted an updated Form 20 showing the initially computed average weekly wage ("AWW") and corresponding compensation rate had been calculated incorrectly. (R. p. 24). Initially, Respondents paid Gonzalez TTD benefits at the compensation rate of \$304.02, based upon a calculated AWW of \$456.03. (R. p. 25). However, the modified Form 20 from February 16, 2012 calculated the AWW at \$327.00 and the compensation rate at \$218.01. (R. p. 24). At this point, Respondents alleged that despite their initial error, they should be entitled to a credit for overpayment

of the TTD benefits from March 1, 2010, the first date TTD benefits were paid, to September 19, 2011, the alleged date of MMI.

Commissioner McCaskill issued a Decision & Order on April 23, 2012. (R. p. 2). He found that Gonzalez had reached MMI on September 19, 2011, that no evidence existed that additional medical treatment was needed, that Gonzalez suffered a 12% permanent partial disability to his back, and that the Respondents were entitled to a credit for overpayment of TTD benefits from September 19, 2011 until the date of the hearing. (R. p. 11-12). Additionally, the Single Commissioner found the Respondents were entitled to credit for overpayment between March 1, 2010 and September 19, 2011, in the amount of \$43.85 per week, representing the difference between \$304.02 (amount of weekly TTD paid under the initial compensation rate) and \$260.17 (amount of weekly TTD under the modified compensation rate). (R. p. 11). These credits were to be applied against the award for permanent partial disability ordered therein. *Id.* Gonzalez appealed these findings to the Full Commission, which affirmed the Single Commissioner's Decision & Order in its entirety. (R. p. 14-23). Gonzalez filed Notice of Appeal in the Court of Appeals December 14, 2012.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Commission. *Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc.*, 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010); *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Under the APA, this Court can reverse or modify the decision of the Commission if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable,

probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d), (e) (Supp. 2011); *Transp. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689-90 (2010).

The Commission is the ultimate factfinder in workers' compensation cases. *Shealy v. Aiken Cnty.*, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). As a general rule, this Court must affirm the findings of fact made by the Commission if they are supported by substantial evidence. *Pierre*, 386 S.C. at 540, 689 S.E.2d at 618. "Substantial evidence is that evidence which, in considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the Commission reached." *Hill v. Eagle Motor Lines*, 373 S.C. 422, 436, 645 S.E.2d 424, 431 (2007). "The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the Commission's finding from being supported by substantial evidence." *Id.*

## ARGUMENT

### I. GONZALEZ REMAINS ENTITLED TO ONGOING MEDICAL CARE PURSUANT TO THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION ACT.

- a. **The Commission erred when it found Gonzalez had reached MMI, and therefore he remains entitled to continuing medical care and benefits until such time that he reaches MMI; Respondents are also not entitled to a credit for overpayment until Gonzalez reaches MMI.**

Under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, injured workers are entitled to causally-related medical care following a work injury. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 (2012), S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 (2012). Claimants continue to be entitled to this care until such time that they reach MMI, when an enquiry into any permanent disability can be held. "Maximum medical improvement is a term used to indicate that a person has reached such a plateau that in the physician's opinion there is no further medical care

or treatment which will lessen the degree of impairment.” *O’Banner v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp.*, 319 S.C. 24, 28, 459 S.E.2d 324, 327 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing *Scruggs v. Tuscarora Yarns, Inc.*, 294 S.C. 47, 362 S.E.2d 319 (Ct. App.1987)).

In this case, it is clear that Gonzalez continues to suffer from a serious impairment and further medical care would tend to lessen the degree of impairment. Following his injury, Gonzalez underwent physical therapy and multiple epidural steroid injections, and when this conservative treatment failed, he ultimately underwent major back surgery. (R. p. 64-67, 91). The physical therapy actually aggravated his condition and the uncontested evidence of record shows he continues to suffer from pain and a loss of range of motion that is equal to or greater than the loss immediately following the injury. (R. p. 45-46). Despite releasing him from his care on September 19, 2011, Dr. Scharf nevertheless found Gonzalez had lost around 50% of the range of motion in his lumbar spine. (R. p. 96).

While Gonzalez concedes South Carolina courts have generally given deference to the opinions of treating physicians when it comes to determining whether Claimants have reached MMI, in this case the medical evidence shows Gonzalez has received no benefit from his medical treatment. His pain and loss of range of motion have failed to improve in any meaningful way since he began receiving medical treatment following his accident, and the evidence supports the contention that Gonzalez’s condition has actually worsened since he began receiving medical treatment.

In the past, this Court has required that Carriers provide medical care for injured Claimants until they have attained some basic level of improvement – hence the ‘plateau’ language in *O’Banner*. Here, there is no evidence suggesting that Gonzalez experienced

any improvement in his condition as a result of the medical treatment authorized by the Carrier. These facts present a fairly rare situation, namely that Gonzalez has failed to receive any appreciable benefit from his medical treatment. There exists virtually no evidence in the record to suggest otherwise, and certainly not enough for the decision of the Commission to be supported by substantial evidence. Considering Gonzalez's failure to improve and his continuing serious problems, Gonzalez contends a finding that he has reached MMI ignores the fact that he has yet to see any improvement following his injury. For these reasons, Gonzalez has not reached MMI.

The Commission also awarded the Respondents a credit for overpayment from September 19, 2011, the date on which it found MMI, until the date of the hearing, January 27, 2012. Defendants are generally entitled to such credits only when MMI has been reached and a permanent disability award can be determined. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 (2012), *Hendricks v. Pickens County*, 335 S.C. 405, 415 n. 2, 517 S.E.2d 698, 704 n.2 (Ct. App. 1999). If this Court finds Gonzalez has not reached MMI, it should also find that any credits for overpayment are premature and that Gonzalez's TTD benefits should be restored until he reaches MMI.

- b. In the alternative, if Gonzalez is determined to have reached MMI, he remains entitled to ongoing causally related *Dodge* medical care which would tend to lessen his disability.**

Employers are also required to provide all causally-related medical care to Claimants following work-related injuries. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 (2012). Employers are required to provide any medical care before such time that a Claimant reaches MMI and an enquiry into a permanent disability can be made, but Employers

may also be required to provide causally related medical care so long as it tends to lessen the period of Claimant's disability, even if the Claimant has already reached MMI.

*Dodge v. Bruccoli*, 334 S.C. 574, 514 S.E.2d 593 (Ct. App. 1999). Even if this Court determines Gonzalez has not reached MMI, he remains entitled to additional medical treatment under the Workers' Compensation Act because additional medical treatment would tend to lessen the period of his disability.

Gonzalez continues to suffer from serious pain in his back which has not improved in any meaningful way despite months of physical therapy, multiple epidural steroid injections, and major back surgery. (R. p. 45-46). Gonzalez suffers from at least a 50% loss of range of motion in the spinal column due to his surgery and ongoing pain symptoms. (R. p. 96). He is unable to work, perform many regular daily activities that he could easily perform before the injury, and spends the vast majority of his time indoors managing his pain. (R. p. 45-52).

Despite all of these problems, Gonzalez manages his pain largely with over-the-counter medications, like Bayer or Tylenol. (R. p. 46). He only takes a more powerful pain relief medication, Oxycodone, when his pain is extremely severe. (R. p. 46-47). This prescription is the final vestige of the medical care once provided by the Carrier, and once Gonzalez runs out, he will receive no additional pain management medication, or, for that matter, any medical treatment of any kind. *Id.*

The evidence of record shows that Gonzalez is in dire need of ongoing pain management treatment to help with his condition. Furthermore, it is manifestly unfair and against the intent of the Act to force Gonzalez to provide for his own ongoing pain management out of pocket when this Court has ruled that Carriers and Employers remain

responsible for causally related medical care after MMI. Even if Gonzalez were able to obtain a prescription for pain management, he would be unable to afford this medication because he has no insurance. His inability to find gainful employment since his premature release from medical care is the reason for his lack of insurance, a responsibility which lies squarely on the shoulders of the Respondents. However, even if it is determined that Gonzalez has reached MMI, it defeats the purpose of the Act to expect a 40 year old man who has undergone major back surgery to live the rest of his life without *any* pain management whatsoever. Considering these ongoing problems and Gonzalez's inability to work because of his severe pain, Gonzalez contends he should receive additional medical treatment in order to assist him in reaching MMI and/or to lessen his period of disability.

**II. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, IF GONZALEZ HAS REACHED MMI, THE COMMISSION ERRED, AS A MATTER OF LAW, WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT GONZALEZ SUFFERED A PERMANENT DISABILITY EQUAL TO THE IMPAIRMENT RATING HE RECEIVED FOR HIS LUMBAR SPINE.**

As noted above, Gonzalez contends he has not reached MMI of the lumbar spine and is therefore entitled to additional medical treatment and TTD benefits. However, if this Court determines Gonzalez has reached MMI, Gonzalez contends he is entitled to a finding of permanent disability in excess of the finding of a 12% permanent partial disability to the back issued by the Single Commissioner.

In South Carolina, Workers' Compensation Claimants are entitled to a monetary award if they suffer a permanent disability to a scheduled member. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 (2012). South Carolina courts have set down the standard for computing a permanent partial disability pursuant to § 42-9-30:

Unless the question of the extent of partial loss of use under Code § 42-9-30 is so technically complicated as to require exclusively expert testimony, lay testimony is admissible. The extent of loss of use need not be shown with mathematical precision. Nevertheless, the award may not rest on surmise, conjecture, or speculation; it must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford it a reasonable basis.

*Linen v. Ruscon Constr. Co.*, 286 S.C. 67, 68, 332 S.E.2d 211, 212 (1985) (citing *Bundrick v. Powell's Garage*, 248 S.C. 496, 151 S.E.2d 437 (1966)). “Loss of earnings is not required for recovery under this section; compensation is based on the character of the injury.” *Bateman v. Town & Country Furniture Co.*, 287 S.C. 158, 160, 336 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 1985) (citing *G.E. Moore Company v. Walker*, 232 S.C. 320, 102 S.E.2d 106 (1958)).

With these standards having been set forth by the courts, Gonzalez contends the Commission ignored or improperly disregarded *all* of the evidence concerning Gonzalez’s permanent disability; with one exception: Dr. Scharf’s report issuing Gonzalez a 12% permanent impairment to the lumbar spine. On September 19, 2011, when he released Gonzalez from his care, Dr. Scharf issued a 12% permanent impairment to the lumbar spine, based on the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition (“AMA Guides”). (R. p. 96).

While doctors typically evaluate injured workers in terms of impairment ratings, impairment ratings and a determination of disability are two entirely different and independent measurements to evaluate the impact of an injury on a person’s life. Impairment ratings are the creation of the American Medical Association; for the spine, they are based on either the Diagnosis-Related Estimates method or a Range of Motion method. American Medical Association, Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent

Impairment 381-384, 398-404 (Linda Cocchiarella & Gunnar B.J. Andersson eds., 5th ed. 2000) (hereinafter AMA Guides).

On the other hand, disability is a legal term that is a creature of statute, meaning “incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-120 (2012). It is this code section, not the impairment ratings, which gives a Claimant the ability to recover permanent disability awards. While impairment ratings are an important component of permanent disability, they are not intended to serve as an equivalent or replacement. The AMA Guides go so far as to specifically state that they are not meant to be used as a measure of disability:

[Impairment ratings] reflect the severity of the medical condition and the degree to which the impairment decreases an individual’s ability to perform common **activities of daily living (ADL)**, *excluding* work. Impairment ratings were designed to reflect functional limitations and not disability. The **whole person impairment percentages** listed in the *Guides* estimate the impact of the impairment on the individual’s overall ability to perform activities of daily living, *excluding work*, as listed in Table 1-2.

AMA Guides 4 (emphasis in original). Table 1-2 has been attached as an exhibit for this Court’s convenience. (Table 1-2).

The authors of the AMA Guides give further reasoning for their decision not to equate impairment with disability:

Work is not included in the clinical judgment for impairment percentages for several reasons: (1) work involved many simple and complex activities; (2) work is highly individualized, making generalizations inaccurate; (3) impairment percentages are unchanged for stable conditions, but work and occupations change; and (4) impairments interact with such other factors as the worker’s age education and prior work experience to determine the extent of work disability. . . . As a result, impairment ratings are not intended for use as direct determinants of work disability. When a physician is asked to evaluate work-related disability, it

is appropriate for a physician knowledgeable about the work activities of the patient to discuss the specific activities the worker can and cannot do, given the permanent impairment.

AMA Guides 5.

While it is obvious that the activities listed in Table 1-2 do overlap somewhat with the skills and abilities needed to obtain and retain gainful employment, Table 1-2 does not include the entirety of work-related skills and abilities that must be taken into account in determining disability. These include the factors identified by the AMA Guides authors and any number of other factors unique to the workplace and not applicable to the very basic activities identified within the category of Activities of Daily Living. Therefore, considering the differing definitions of impairment ratings and disability, as well as the reservations of the AMA Guides authors about confusing or conflating the two, equating an impairment rating with a finding of disability is a serious error.

Gonzalez contends that while the impairment rating is an adequate starting point for an inquiry into disability, it cannot be the finishing line. When there are additional factors present, as there are in this case, the Commission must either use them in its determination of disability in addition to an impairment rating *or* give adequate reasons, supported by substantial evidence, as to why these additional factors should not be used to issue a disability award percentage in excess of an impairment rating.

When Gonzalez underwent FCE testing, he was tested for factors that included his Material Handling abilities (lifting, carrying, pushing, and pulling objects of a certain weight), Positional Tolerance abilities (frequency of ability to sit, stand, walk, climb stairs/ladders, reaching, balancing, stooping, kneeling, crouching, crawling),

Manipulative Abilities (frequency of ability to perform object handling, fingering, simple hand grasp, firm hand grasp, fine/gross manipulation), and the Consistency of performance (maximal voluntary effort, pinch strength testing, isometric push/pull, dynamic lift test, Waddell's objective signs). (R. p. 105). The majority of the skills and abilities tested in the FCE, and therefore recognized as crucial to the ability to engage in meaningful employment, are not included in Activities of Daily Living. The Commission gave no reason as to why these factors, which objectively show Gonzalez has serious work-related difficulties, do not serve to increase his disability more than the 12% impairment rating given by Dr. Scharf.

Gonzalez suffers from other difficulties as well. Gonzalez's difficulties with constant pain and loss of range of motion have been well documented in the medical record and previously within this brief. Gonzalez has suffered from constant pain, which has not been relieved since the time of the accident. (R. p. 66-67). Both conservative treatment and major back surgery have failed to alleviate Gonzalez's pain or improve his range of motion. (R. p. 45-46, 71) Both Dr. Scharf and Gonzalez stated that Gonzalez has lost 50% of the loss of use of his spine. (R. p. 71, 96). Gonzalez has been unable to return to work, has been unable to perform any kind of activities involving bending or manipulation of the spine, and has trouble staying in any position for any length of time. (R. p. 45-52, 67-71). Furthermore, Gonzalez is now forty years old and required a translator at the hearing because his English is extremely poor. (R. p. 61-62, 78).

These vocational factors, when combined with his poor physical health, make it extremely unlikely that he will ever be able to match his pre-injury earnings, and certainly to an extent greater than the 12% disability award issued. The serious manner

in which this problem has affected Gonzalez is clear from the record, and the Respondents have offered no evidence to diminish the effect of these factors, other than the 12% impairment rating issued by Dr. Scharf.

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