THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

WCC File No.: 1002408 4

Appellate Case No.: 2012 - 213610

Norge L. Gonzalez Torres, (Employee/Claimant), Appellant,
v.
World Fiber Technologies, Inc. (Employer) and
The Standard Fire Insurance Company, c/o Travelers (Carrier), Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

RECEIVED
JUN 03 2013
SC Court of Appeals

S. LeAnne McCormack, Esquire
J. Gabriel Coggiola, Esquire
Willson, Jones, Carter & Baxley, P.A.
4500 Fort Jackson Boulevard
Columbia, South Carolina 29209
(803) 227-2889
Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Workers' Compensation Commission Correctly Determined That Appellant Was At MMI As Of September 19, 2011.

Appellant argues that he has not reached MMI, and therefore he is entitled to additional medical treatment. In support of this argument, Appellant asserts that it is clear that he continues to suffer from a serious impairment and further medical care would tend to lessen his degree of impairment; however, he cites no expert medical evidence in the record in support of this claim.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has described MMI as the point when "a person has reached a plateau that, in the physician's opinion, no further medical care or treatment will lessen the period of impairment" and "signals the end of entitlement to temporary total benefits."

Curiel v. Environmental Management Services, 376 S.C. 23, 655 S.E.2d 482 (2007). "Maximum medical improvement is a factual determination by the Commission." *Id.* "Expert medical testimony is intended to aid the Appellate Panel in coming to the correct conclusion." *Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist.* 7, 395 S.C. 17, 716 S.E.2d 123 (Ct. App. 2010). "[W]hile medical testimony is entitled to great respect, the fact finder may disregard it if there is other competent evidence in the record." *Tiller v. Nat'l Health Care Center*, 334 S.C. 333, 340 (1999). In this case, there is no competent evidence in the record to contradict Dr. Scharf's MMI opinion.

The only expert medical evidence in the record includes APA submissions filed by Respondents on November 22, 2011. Included in those records are the medical reports of Appellant's authorized treating doctor, Dr. Michael Scharf at Jacksonville Orthopaedic Institute. On September 19, 2011, Dr. Scharf released Appellant at MMI with a rating of 12% impairment. (R. p. 96). Dr. Scharf's opinion was unrefuted. Appellant did not submit any contradicting

medical expert opinions, nor was the opinion of Dr. Scharf ever challenged by Appellant in any medical questionnaire or deposition. The only medical evidence available in the record clearly establishes that Appellant reached MMI. (R. p. 96).

Despite the total lack of expert medical evidence supporting Appellant's argument that he has not reached MMI, Appellant contends that the Commission ignored the Appellant's continued subjective complaints of pain, loss of range of motion, and failure to see improvement following his treatment, and as a result, the Commission erred in finding him to be at MMI. In order to accept this argument as plausible, Appellant asks this court to completely disregard the only available medical evidence in the record and rely solely on the Appellant's hearing testimony.

Respondents argue that workers compensation does not award for pain and suffering. Appellant's contention that his ongoing subjective complaints of pain somehow prevent him from being at a point of MMI is inconsistent with the definition of MMI and the purpose of assigning permanent partial disability. It is a long standing principle of the workers' compensation system that "[t]here is no recognition of the elements of pain and suffering, or of discomfort or difficulty in performing work, as long as there is no diminution in earning capacity." *Keeter v. Clifton Mfg. Co., et al.*, 225 S.C. 389, 392, 82 S.E.2d 520 (citing *Parrot v. Barfield Used Parts*, 206 S.C. 381, 34 S.E.2d 802 (1945); *Dameron v. Spartan Mills*, 211 S.C. 217, 44 S.E.2d 465 (1947)). In this case, Appellant submitted no evidence in support of a claim for diminution in earning capacity.

Further, Appellant's complaints of loss of range of motion are far from unrefuted. A review of Dr. Scharf's records reveal multiple instances of questionable effort with regards to Appellant's range of motion. On June 2, 2010, Dr. Scharf states "[r]ange of motion is nil due to

submaximal effort.” (R. p. 82). On the same date Dr. Scharf noted that although he recognized Appellant may have real problem, he felt “there maybe a little bit of pain response.” (R. p. 83). On March 16, 2011, Dr. Scharf stated “[t]here is a lot of submaximal effort.” (R. p. 92). Finally, on August 22, 2011, Dr. Scharf stated “[o]n exam he is very self limited. He will not bend at all.” (R. p. 95).

In addition to Dr. Scharf’s records, Appellant’s functional capacity evaluation (“FCE”), conducted by Jennifer Hauser on August 31, 2011, demonstrated that Appellant was capable of light work; however, Ms. Hauser qualified her opinion by stating her findings represented the minimum at which Appellant can function due to inconsistencies demonstrated throughout the test. (R. p. 103). Specifically, Ms. Hauser noted:

Inconsistencies in his performance included squatting: he was able to perform a full squat while lifting up to 20 pounds but couldn’t ascend from a squat position without maximal assistance from bilateral upper extremities; gait: at times his gait was antalgic with a slower cadence and at times was within normal limits. At the end of the test, he was using bilateral upper extremity assistance on the stairs, yet when he left the clinic, he descended a curb without evidence of difficulty or wincing and without upper extremity assistance. (R. p. 103).

Upon receiving Appellant’s hearing testimony and reviewing the available evidence in the record, the Hearing Commissioner was in the best position to make a determination with regards the factual finding of MMI, and the available evidence supported the Commissioner’s finding of MMI.

II. The Workers Compensation Commission Correctly Determined That Appellant Is Not Entitled To Any Additional Medical Treatment.

Appellant argues that if Appellant is deemed to have reached MMI, he remains entitled to ongoing causally related *Dodge* medical treatment which would tend to lessen his period of disability. Again, there is no medical evidence in the record to support his argument.

S.C. Code Ann. §42-15-60 (2007) controls the time period during which medical treatment and supplies shall be furnished to a claimant. In *Dodge v. Bruccoli, Clark, Layman, Inc.*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals interpreted S.C. Code Ann. §42-15-60 (2007) and held that an employer may be liable for a claimant's medical treatment after maximum medical improvement if it "tends to lessen the claimant's period of disability." 334 S.C. 574, 514 S.E.2d 593 (Ct. App. 1999). Since the holding in *Dodge*, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 has been amended to require the need for additional medical treatment to be "evidenced by expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty." S.C. Code § 42-15-60(A)(2007). In this case, Appellant has not submitted any expert medical evidence into the record in support of his claim for future treatment that would tend to lessen the period of disability, and therefore the Workers' Compensation Commission correctly found that Appellant was not entitled to additional medical treatment.

III. The Workers' Compensation Commission Correctly Determined That Appellant Sustained 12% Permanent Partial Disability To The Back In Accordance With The Substantial Evidence On The Record.

Appellant cites *Linen v. Ruscon Constr. Co.* in support of the argument that unless the question of the extent of partial loss of use under S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-30(2007) is so technically complicated as to require exclusively expert testimony, lay testimony is available." 286 S.C. 67, 68, 332, S.E.2d 211, 212 (1985). In *Linen*, the Court dealt injury to the arm, not the back. This court previously addressed this exact issue in *McLeod v. Piggly Wiggly*, stating:

Here, we are concerned with the back, a much more complicated area of the body. The area of the body, the congenital defect and the type of injury sustained are factors which require a higher degree of expertise than was presented to determine the degree of partial loss of use.

McLeod v. Piggly Wiggly, 280 S.C. 466, 313 S.E.2d 38 (S.C.App. 1984).

The holding in *McLeod* clearly demonstrates that the back is a more complicated area of the body, and therefore, calculation of permanent partial loss of use to the back requires medical expert testimony and cannot be based on lay testimony alone, especially when that testimony contradicts the only available expert medical evidence in the record.

Appellant further argues that the Workers' Compensation Commission ignored or improperly disregarded "all" of the evidence concerning Appellant's disability with the sole exception of Dr. Scharf's release. Appellant's argument lacks merit because there was no other medical evidence available for the Commission to review or rely on other than Appellant's hearing testimony, and as *McLeod* set forth above, the back is a complicated part of the body that requires a higher degree of expertise than lay testimony alone in determining permanent disability. (*Id.*)

Appellant correctly points out that impairment and disability are two different measurements to evaluate the impact of a claimant's injury. Appellant is also correct that disability is defined as "incapacity because of injury to earn wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment." S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-120(2007). In addressing awards for disability, the Supreme Court held, "[t]he burden of proving causation rests upon the Claimant. This burden could be met only by evidence the Claimant had made reasonable efforts to obtain employment and had failed because of an injury produced handicap." *Shealy v. Algernon Blair* 250 S.C. 106, 156 S.E.2d 646 (1967). In the instant case, Appellant testified that he never even tried to return to work after being released by his doctor (Hr. Tr. p. 20, lines 16-19), and therefore he failed to satisfy the burden set forth in *Shealy*.

Accordingly, the Workers' Compensation Commission correctly determined that Appellant sustained 12% permanent partial disability in accordance with available evidence in the record.

IV. The Workers Compensation Commission Correctly Determined The Appropriate Compensation Rate And Awarded Respondents Credit For Payment Of Temporary Total Benefits Paid At The Incorrect Compensation Rate.

At the January 27, 2012 hearing, Respondents objected to the previously set compensation rate of \$304.02, and argued that the actual payroll records reflected an average weekly wage of \$327.00, with a correlating compensation rate of \$218.01. (R. p. 58, lines 4-8). Following the hearing, both parties submitted their calculations for the proper compensation rate. Respondent's filed a Form 20 Earning Statement on February 16, 2012, reflecting the \$218.01 compensation rate. (R. p. 24). On February 17, 2012, Appellant submitted a letter to the Hearing Commissioner indicating that an average weekly wage of \$390.23 and correlating compensation rate of \$260.17, and it was counsel's opinion that this was most consistent with S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-40 and avoided penalizing either party. (R. p. 133). In his Decision and Order, the Hearing Commissioner awarded the \$260.17 compensation rate suggested by Appellant. (R. p. 8). Despite Appellant's previous statement that he felt this compensation rate was most consistent with S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-40 and it avoided penalizing either party, he now contends on appeal that the Commissioner erred in using Appellant's compensation rate.

Appellant argues that the Commission "appears to have based its decision" about the average weekly wage by consulting the payment history for two quarters preceding his injury, seemingly ignoring the fact that these calculations were submitted to the Commissioner by the Appellant himself. Based on the evidence he had available, the Hearing Commissioner made a factual ruling that the \$260.17 compensation rate suggested by Appellant most accurately

reflected the Appellant's earnings, and this finding is supported by the substantial evidence in the record.

Appellant further argues that the Commissioner erred in requiring the employer to provide wages to that of a similar employee. S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-40(2007) allows for this method when "shortness of time during which the employee has been in the employment of his employer, or the casual nature or terms of his employment, it is impractical to compute the average weekly wages as defined in this section." S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-40(2007). In this case, Appellant was employed for a period of 30 weeks. Respondents argue that 30 weeks is a sufficient period of time to assess a claimant's estimated future earnings, and Appellant has failed to provide any evidence that the nature of his hours was due to the casual nature or terms of his employment.